

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

High-intensity interval training for reducing cardiometabolic syndrome in healthy but sedentary populations (Protocol)

Strauss JA, Ranasinghe C, Cowley E, Schwingshackl L, Shepherd SO, Chaplin M, Garner P

Strauss JA, Ranasinghe C, Cowley E, Schwingshackl L, Shepherd SO, Chaplin M, Garner P. High-intensity interval training for reducing cardiometabolic syndrome in healthy but sedentary populations (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 5. Art. No.: CD013617. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013617.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
	-
ABSTRACT	1
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
REFERENCES	8
APPENDICES	11
HISTORY	11
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	11
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	11
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	12



High-intensity interval training for reducing cardiometabolic syndrome in healthy but sedentary populations

Juliette A Strauss¹, Chathuranga Ranasinghe², Emma Cowley¹, Lukas Schwingshackl³, Sam O Shepherd¹, Marty Chaplin⁴, Paul Garner⁴

¹Research Institute for Sport & Exercise Sciences, Faculty of Science, Liverpool John Moores University, Liverpool, UK. ²Sport and Exercise Medicine Unit, Department of Allied Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, University of Colombo, Colombo, Sri Lanka. ³Institute for Evidence in Medicine, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany. ⁴Department of Clinical Sciences, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, Liverpool, UK

Contact address: Juliette A Strauss, j.a.strauss@ljmu.ac.uk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Heart Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 5, 2020.

Citation: Strauss JA, Ranasinghe C, Cowley E, Schwingshackl L, Shepherd SO, Chaplin M, Garner P. High-intensity interval training for reducing cardiometabolic syndrome in healthy but sedentary populations (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 5. Art. No.: CD013617. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013617.

Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Objectives

This is a protocol for a Cochrane Review (intervention). The objectives are as follows:

To assess the effects of high-intensity interval training on cardiometabolic health in healthy, sedentary adults.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Advances in technology have dramatically changed our physical activity. More disposable income, more reliance on personal vehicles, fewer manual jobs reduced day to day activity, and now television, mobile devices, and the Internet all contribute to less physical activity and exercise. This inactivity appears to be contributing to the global epidemic of cardiometabolic syndrome (CMS (Misra 2008)). There are multiple risk factors for CMS: systemic arterial hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, central obesity, and insulin resistance or type 2 diabetes, which are related to developing and dying from cardiovascular disease (CVD (GBD 2017 Risk Factor Collaborators)). CVD is the leading cause of adult deaths globally; an estimated 18 million people die from CVD each year, with hypertension and diabetes being the major risk factors (GBD 2017 Causes of Death Collaborators).

The World Health Organization (WHO) use the presence of type 2 diabetes or insulin resistance as diagnostic of CMS when two other of these risk factors are present: obesity, hypertension, high triglycerides, reduced HDL-C, or micro-albuminuria (Grundy 2008). Thus, CMS causes millions of deaths through the associated downstream effects (impact on cardiovascular system, cerebrovascular system, immune system, and cancer diagnoses), all of which could be minimised (Irace 2005). Public health policies often emphasise preventative and therapeutic clinical interventions that address modifiable risk factors, such as obesity, physical inactivity, systolic arterial hypertension, type 2 diabetes, and dyslipidaemia (Grundy 2005; Guthold 2018); but all of these could by improved by increased exercise (Sato 2007; He 2009; Ding 2016).

Description of the intervention

The WHO recommends 150 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic exercise (planned, structured physical activity) per week, or 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity exercise per week to promote health in people aged 18 years to 64 years (WHO 2010). However, one third of the global population do not achieve this target, so it is not surprising that conditions, such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease are increasing globally (Sallis 2016).

Traditionally, there have been two main types of exercise training; aerobic (endurance) training and resistance training. High-intensity interval training (HIIT) has recently emerged as a third type of exercise training, which alternates short bouts of high-intensity aerobic exercise with periods of rest and recovery. This novel approach has the potential to be an alternative to the current WHO guidelines for physical activity, as it offers a time-efficient exercise strategy compared to moderate-intensity aerobic exercise (Gibala 2012). It is increasingly popular in some countries; for example, according to the American College of Sports Medicine, HIIT is one of the top two fitness trends for 2020 (Thompson 2019).

The time efficiency with HIIT could be extremely important, as one of the most commonly cited barrier to physical activity and exercise is a lack of time (Arzu 2006; Gibala 2010). With approximately 20 minutes of HIIT, compared to 30 minutes to 45 minutes per session for moderate-intensity endurance exercise, this is an important potential option to traditional, moderateintensity endurance exercise. Therefore, it is important to be clear that HIIT offers the same benefits as moderate-intensity endurance exercise before any more substantive public health promotion and other active strategies to promote the approach are implemented.

How the intervention might work

Regular physical activity is associated with lower risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Paffenbarger 1986; Manson 1999; Ekelund 2019). Prospective studies have demonstrated that lifelong physical activity reduces the risk for cardiovascular mortality by 42% to 44% when compared to lifelong sedentary behaviour (Blair 1995; Lee 2011). Regular exercise has been shown to modify cardiovascular risk factors, such as blood pressure, poor blood lipid profile, and insulin resistance (Thompson 2003; Cornelissen 2013). Most research to date explores the beneficial effects of endurance exercise, so we need to understand whether these benefits also occur as a result of HIIT. Adaptations to training are complex and multifaceted. HIIT influences multiple body systems and consequently, multiple risk factors (blood lipid profile (including high density lipoproteincholesterol (HDL-C) to low density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C) ratio), systolic blood pressure, obesity, and insulin resistance), leading to improved CVD risk.

HIIT has been shown to elicit similar, or even greater, improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness than that from traditional moderateintensity endurance training, despite the lower time commitment, in a variety of populations (Gibala 2012; Bacon 2013; Weston 2014; Milanovic 2015). The improvement in cardio-respiratory fitness is important, despite it not being a CVD risk factor, because lower cardiorespiratory fitness has been associated with higher risk of all-cause mortality (Myers 2004; Kodama 2009). Indeed, a low cardiorespiratory fitness correlates more closely with mortality than other risk factors, including smoking, obesity, type 2 diabetes, and hypertension (Artero 2012); each 1mL/kg/min increase in cardiorespiratory fitness is associated with a 45-day increase in lifespan (Clausen 2018). A number of recent systematic reviews have also demonstrated that HIIT can lead to improvements in VO2 max in lean, overweight, and obese populations (Batacan 2017; Vollaard 2017; Wen 2019), and to greater improvements in VO2 max when compared to moderate intensity continuous training (Sultana 2019).

HIIT appears to exert a cardioprotective effect on the vasculature by inducing functional and structural adaptations to the vascular wall, which can lead to improved blood flow (assessed via flow mediated dilation (FMD); a surrogate for cardiovascular health and disease risk (Inaba 2010; Green 2011; Thijssen 2011; Ras 2013)). HIIT can also reduce the stiffness of the arteries. Arterial stiffness (measured by pulse wave velocity (PWV)) relates closely with cardiovascular events, with an increased cardiovascular risk of 30% for every one standard deviation change in PWV (Ben-Shlomo 2014). HIIT has been demonstrated to result in reductions in arterial stiffness in previously sedentary lean and obese populations (Rakobowchuk 2008; Cocks 2013; Cocks 2016).

An inactive lifestyle can lead to a poor circulating lipid profile (elevated LDL-C, a marker of risk for stroke). A study of 90 inactive volunteers, who took part in 10-week, instructor-led, group-based stationary cycling class, demonstrated that HIIT led to improvements in a number of cardiovascular risk factors: VO2 peak, insulin sensitivity, and abdominal fat mass, and induced favourable changes in circulating lipid profile (decreased

High-intensity interval training for reducing cardiometabolic syndrome in healthy but sedentary populations (Protocol) Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

cholesterol, improved LDL-C:HDL-C ratio (Shepherd 2015; Campbell 2019)). The improvement in risk factors (systolic blood pressure, insulin sensitivity, blood lipid profile, and vascular function) in response to HIIT is not isolated; it is reported in some existing metaanalyses (Jelleyman 2015; Ramos 2015; Batacan 2017).

A key risk factor associated with CMS is obesity. Because of the short duration of HIIT, and therefore, the limited energy expenditure for a single training session compared to endurance training, the benefits of HIIT on body composition are currently equivocal (Skelly 2014). This relationship has been explored in a number of systematic reviews and meta-analyses to date; some showed similar improvements in body composition (reduction in body fat percentage) between HIIT and moderate intensity continuous training (MICT (Keating 2017; Wewege 2017)), some showed improvements only in response to HIIT (Viana 2019), and some showed improvements only in response to MICT (Sultana 2019).

Why it is important to do this review

The global cost of inactivity is estimated to be \$53.8 billion (Ding 2016). Exercise has the potential to be a low cost, effective, and accessible intervention, which can improve cardiovascular disease risk in a sedentary population. However, it is well understood that the current WHO exercise guidelines are not met, and do not currently include advise for people who wish to undertake HIIT (WHO 2010; Sallis 2016). The 75 minutes of vigorous exercise outlined in the WHO guidelines still exceeds the time commitment of a true HIIT or sprint interval training (SIT) programme (resulting in a heart rate of at least 80% of your maximum heart rate (> 80% HR max)).

Importantly though, we still do not known whether HIIT is an efficacious and acceptable alternative for sedentary populations to use to reduce their risk for CMS. Given the large public interest in HIIT at present, and a lack of time being cited as the most common barrier to exercise, the topic is ripe for a high quality, nonbised exploration of the literature (Arzu 2006; Gibala 2010). Physical activity and exercise training are paramount for health promotion, therefore, it is important to make a variety of exercise modes available for people to consider incorporating into their weekly exercise regimens. Public health guidelines should be applicable for all populations, regardless of their culture, or their ability to pay for the programmes. This review has the potential to inform activity guidelines and recommendations for health promotion, should HIIT prove to be of benefit in reducing the risk of CMS risk in healthy, sedentary individuals.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the effects of high-intensity interval training on cardiometabolic health in healthy, sedentary adults.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We will include individual and cluster-randomised controlled trials (RCTs), including cross-over trials. We will include studies reported as full-text, those published as abstract only, and unpublished data.

Types of participants

We will include healthy adults, aged 18 years to 64 years, who are sedentary (at baseline). We will define sedentary as activity that does not meet the World Health Organization (WHO) global recommended levels of physical activity for adults aged 18 years to 64 years, described as 150 minutes or more of moderate-intensity physical activity, or at least 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity per week (WHO 2010).

We will exclude studies of athletes, as this review is concerned about public health, not high-intensity interval training (HIIT) for performance; studies of overweight (body mass index (BMI) 25 kg/ m^2 to 29.9 kg/ m^2) or obese (BMI \ge 30 kg/ m^2) populations recruited as a result of a medical event or diagnosis, as this review is focusing on healthy participants; and studies with co-interventions, as healthy participants would not require preventative treatment strategies or medications.

Types of interventions

Intervention

We will define an exercise training programme as an intervention in which participants undergo an exercise programme. The exercise programme must have been prescribed, and must report details of type of exercise, frequency, intensity, and duration (Colberg 2016).

Programmes that assure high-intensity interval training (HIIT), defined as short periods of intense aerobic exercise (resulting in a heart rate of at least 80% of your maximum heart rate (> 80% HR max)) interspersed with periods of recovery. This will include sprint interval training (SIT; short, up to 30 seconds, of 'all out' bursts of HIIT). The maximum interval duration is four minutes; there is no minimum duration, so we can include various HIIT protocols currently in the literature. We will consider all types of exercise (e.g. treadmill, running, cycling, swimming, cross training, rowing, martial arts, recumbent cycling). We will exclude programmes in which HIIT is combined with resistance training.

The period of training must be at least four weeks. We selected four weeks, as existing studies have shown meaningful increases in cardiorespiratory fitness (VO2 max) within this time. For example, in obese men, four weeks of exercise training resulted in an increase in VO2 max from 2 to 4 mL/kg/min with some individuals demonstrating larger increases (Cocks 2016; Shepherd 2017). Given that each 1 mL/kg/min increase in cardiorespiratory fitness is associated with a 45-day increase in lifespan, even these smaller improvements are clinically relevant (Clausen 2018).

We will include both supervised and unsupervised training schemes, and will consider them in a subgroup analysis.

Control

The controls can be either:

- People who are not in an active training programme
- People training at a constant, moderate intensity (minimum session duration 30 minutes, at an intensity 50% to 70% HR max), with no intervals

There are two comparisons of interest in this review:

1. HIIT versus no active training, and



2. HIIT versus moderate-intensity, continuous training.

Types of outcome measures

Reporting one or more of the outcomes of interest is not an inclusion criterion for the review. If a published report does not appear to report one of these outcomes, we will access the trial protocol and contact the trial authors to ascertain whether the outcomes were measured but not reported. We will include relevant trials that measured these outcomes, but either did not report the data at all, or did not report them in a usable format, as part of the narrative.

All outcomes will be measured at the end of the defined training period. We will include outcomes followed with * in the 'Summary of findings' table.

Primary outcomes

- Cardiorespiratory fitness, measured by VO2 peak*
- Systolic blood pressure*
- Waist circumference*
- Waist-to-hip ratio*

Secondary outcomes

Clinical

- All cause-mortality*
- Cardiovascular mortality
- Myocardial infarction (number of events during prescribed exercise)
- Stroke (number of events during prescribed exercise)
- Quality of life (assessed with a validated quality of life scale (Flanagan 1978; Flanagan 1982))

Laboratory measurements

- Body mass
- Body mass index
- Lean mass and fat mass, measured by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and dual-x-ray absorptiometry (DXA), bioelectrical impedance, and skinfold
- Visceral fat measured by MRI or DXA only
- Insulin sensitivity, measured by hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamp (gold standard) or an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT); OGTT may be reported as area under the curve, Matsuda index, or Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR) index
- Fasting insulin levels
- Glycated haemoglobin (HBA1c) (commonly used clinical marker of glucose control over the previous three months)
- Diastolic blood pressure
- Vascular function (often measured with flow mediated dilation or pulse wave velocity to give an indication of arterial stiffness)
- Circulating triglycerides (TG)*
- Low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C)
- High density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C)

Programme measurements

• Duration of exercise (minutes/week) in HIIT versus traditional, moderate-intensity continuous training

• Participant dropout or adherence, as a surrogate for adverse events

Adverse Events

- Injuries occurring during a prescribed training session
- Other adverse events occurring during a prescribed training session*
- Any adverse event not attributed to, and unrelated to the exercise programme

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We will identify trials through systematic searches of the following bibliographic databases:

- Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL; current issue) in the Cochrane Library
- MEDLINE Ovid (1946 onwards)
- Embase Ovid (1980 onwards)
- Web of Science Core Collection Clarivate Analytics SCI-Expanded, SSCi, CPCI-S

We will adapt the preliminary search strategy for MEDLINE Ovid for use in the other databases (Appendix 1). We will apply the Cochrane sensitivity and precision maximising RCT filter MEDLINE Ovid and the adaptations of it to the other databases, except CENTRAL (Higgins 2019).

We will search the US National Institutes of Health Ongoing Trials Register ClinicalTrials.gov (www.ClinicalTrials.gov), and the WHO International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) Search Portal (apps.who.int/trialsearch/) for ongoing or unpublished trials.

We will search all databases from their inception to the present, and we will impose no restriction on language of publication or publication status.

We will consider adverse effects described in included studies only.

Searching other resources

We will check reference lists of all included studies and any relevant systematic reviews identified for additional references to trials. We will also examine any relevant retraction statements and errata for included studies. We will contact study authors for missing, unclear, or contradictory data.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two or more review authors (JS, CR, EC, SS, LS) will independently screen titles and abstracts to include all the potential studies we identify as a result of the search, and code them as 'retrieve' (eligible, potentially eligible, or unclear) or 'do not retrieve'. If there are any disagreements, they will ask another review author to arbitrate (PG). We will retrieve the full-text study reports and publications, and two or more review authors (JS, CR, EC, SS, LS) will independently screen the full-text and identify studies for inclusion, and identify and record reasons for excluding the ineligible studies. We will consult another author (PG). We



will identify and exclude duplicates and collate multiple reports of the same study, so that each study, rather than each report is the unit of interest in the review. We will record the selection process in sufficient detail to complete a PRISMA flow diagram and 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table (Liberati 2009). We will log studies awaiting classification if the full text is unavailable (e.g. conference abstracts), unclear, or missing information (cannot be obtained from study authors).

Data extraction and management

We will use a data collection form for study characteristics and outcome data, which has been piloted on at least two studies in the review. Study characteristics will be extracted independently by two review authors (JS, CR). For any missing data, we will contact the study authors. We will extract the following study characteristics.

- 1. Methods: authors' contact details, type of record (e.g. journal article, thesis), study design, study population, study dates, total duration of the intervention, and follow-up duration after the intervention where relevant, details of 'run in' periods where relevant, number of study centres and location, study setting, method of recruitment, number of study arms, description of eligible study arms, outcome used for sample size calculation, other relevant notes on the methods.
- 2. Participants: N randomised, N lost to follow-up or withdrawn, N analysed, mean age, age range, sex (number of males and females per group), inclusion criteria, exclusion criteria, baseline body weight status, other baseline cardiovascular disease risk factors and potential confounders, any group differences.
- 3. Interventions: description of the exercise programme (e.g. high intensity interval training, resistance training, endurance training), intervention type (e.g. cycle ergometer, treadmill), dose (e.g. number of intervals, prescribed intensity, work:rest or recovery ratio), mode of control training intervention (e.g. no training or endurance exercise training), supervision (e.g. supervised or unsupervised), concomitant interventions.
- 4. Outcomes: primary and secondary outcomes specified and collected at relevant time points, data on adherence to the interventions.
- 5. Notes: funding for trial, notable conflicts of interest of trial authors, and other relevant notes.

We will assess outcomes via change data (change from baseline for each outcome variable per group) and include data on variance for treatment and control arms and 'n' at the time point. If no change data are available, we will extract data from the end of the study, or other appropriate time points, and include data on variance and 'n' at the time point. Where possible, we will convert variables to comparable units to allow pooling of data as appropriate.

Where data are included in eligible studies, we will measure adherence as the percentage of training sessions completed of the overall prescribed programme. We will also examine studies for measure of compliance to the training prescription, such as whether the heart rate target is achieved. This is likely to be an important effect modifier, but may well be poorly described.

At least two review authors (JS, CR, EC, SS, LS) will independently extract outcome data from included studies. We will resolve disagreements by consensus or by involving another review author

(PG). One review author (JS) will transfer data into the Review Manager 5 file (Review Manager 2014). We will double-check that data are entered correctly by comparing the data presented in the systematic review with the data extraction form. A second review author (SS) will spot-check study characteristics for accuracy against the trial report.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

At least two review authors (JS, CR, EC, SS, LS) will independently assess risk of bias for each study, using version two of the Cochrane 'Risk of bias' tool (RoB2), outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions, Chapter 8* (Higgins 2019). We will resolve any disagreements by discussion or by involving another review author (PG). We will assess the risk of bias of trials that measure the outcomes that will be included in our 'Summary of findings' table according to the following domains:

- 1. bias arising from the randomisation process;
- 2. bias due to deviations from intended interventions;
- 3. bias due to missing outcome data;
- 4. bias in measurement of the outcome; and
- 5. bias in selection of the reported result.

We will use the signalling questions in the RoB2 tool, and rate each domain as 'low risk of bias', 'some concerns' or 'high risk of bias'. We will summarise the risk of bias judgements across different studies for each of the domains listed for each outcome. The overall risk of bias for the result is the least favourable assessment across the domains of bias.

We will assess the risk of bias of cross-over trials using the ROB2 tool, which specifically addresses carry-over effects and period effects, and takes into account the possibility of selective reporting in the first period of results (Higgins 2019).

Assessment of bias in conducting the systematic review

We will conduct the review according to this published protocol, and report any deviations from it in the 'Differences between protocol and review' section of the systematic review.

Measures of treatment effect

We will analyse dichotomous data as risk ratios with 95% confidence intervals. We will enter data presented as a scale with a consistent direction of effect. For continuous outcomes collected with different scales (e.g. quality of life), we will measure the effect using standardised mean differences with 95% confidence intervals. for continuous outcomes collected on the same scale, we will measure the effect using mean differences with corresponding standard deviation and 95% confidence intervals.

We will use the latest Review Manager version to conduct metaanalyses for each outcome, where appropriate, to determine a pooled effect of high-intensity interval training compared to endurance-type exercise training, or no training.

We will narratively describe skewed data reported as medians and interquartile ranges.

Unit of analysis issues

In the case of multiple intervention groups, we will include all eligible intervention arms. If we encounter a case where multiple

intervention arms contribute data to the same meta-analysis, we will split the control group so that participants are not doublecounted in any meta-analysis.

We will include RCTs, whether randomised at the level of the participant or as a cluster-randomised design. If we do find cluster-RCTs that did not perform adjustments for clustering, we will reanalyse, where possible, following the method of adjusting for clustering, taking into account the correlated nature of withincluster data, as described in the *Handbook* (Higgins 2019).

We will analyse cluster-randomised trials in accordance with guidance in the *Handbook, Chapter 23* (Higgins 2019). Cluster-randomised trials trials should account for clustering in the data, e.g. based on a multilevel model or generalised estimating equation. If the study authors have not properly accounted for clustering, we will use effective sample size methods where the following information can be extracted:

- The number of clusters (or groups) randomised to each intervention group, and the total number of participants in the study; or the average (mean) size of each cluster;
- The outcome data ignoring the cluster design for the total number of individuals (e.g. the number or proportion of individuals with events, or means and standard deviations for continuous data);
- An estimate of the intracluster (or intraclass) correlation coefficient (ICC).

If ICC estimates are not available in published reports. we will use external estimates obtained from similar studies, or use an estimate based on known patterns in ICCs for particular types of cluster or outcome. If we estimate the ICC, we will conduct sensitivity analyses to investigate the robustness of our conclusions.

We will analyse cross-over trials in accordance with guidance in the *Handbook, Chapter 23* (Higgins 2019). If we judge that period effects and carry-over effects are unlikely to be a problem in a cross-over trial, we will use a paired analysis. If the required data for a paired analysis are not available, or we consider period effects, carry-over effects, or both to be a problem, we will include data from the first cross-over period, treating this period as a randomised parallel trial.

Dealing with missing data

We will contact investigators or study sponsors to verify key study characteristics and obtain missing numerical outcome data, where possible (e.g. when a study is identified as abstract only). Where possible, we will use the RevMan calculator to impute missing standard deviations, using other data from the trial, such as confidence intervals, based on methods outlined in the Handbook (Higgins 2019). If we cannot calculate these with reasonable confidence, we will contact the study authors directly, via email, to obtain the missing standard deviations, or impute standard deviations by borrowing values from similar studies. If any imputations are performed, we will explore the impact of changing the assumptions made in sensitivity analyses. In the event of missing outcome data from participants, we may perform imputations using methods outlined in section 10.12.2 of the Handbook, and perform sensitivity analyses to investigate the potential impact of reasonable changes in the assumptions made.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We will inspect forest plots visually to consider the direction and magnitude of effects and the degree of overlap between confidence intervals. We will use the I² statistic to measure heterogeneity among the trials in each analysis, but acknowledge that there is substantial uncertainty in the value of I² when there is only a small number of studies, We will also consider the P value from the Chi² test. If we identify substantial heterogeneity (I² > 50%), we will report it and explore possible causes by prespecified subgroup analysis (see below).

Assessment of reporting biases

If we are able to pool more than 10 trials, we will create and examine a funnel plot to explore possible small study biases for the primary outcomes.

Data synthesis

We will undertake meta-analyses only where this is meaningful, that is, if the intervention, participants, and the underlying question are similar enough for pooling to make sense.

We will use a fixed-effect model in the absence of substantial heterogeneity, defined above. With substantial quantitative heterogeneity not explained by subgroup analysis, we will consider meta-analysis using a random-effects model, if the combination of participants and the intervention make sense.

Summary of findings table

We will create a 'Summary of findings' table for each comparison using the following outcomes cardiorespiratory fitness, systolic blood pressure, waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, all-cause mortality, circulating triglycerides, adverse events occurring during a prescribed training session.

We will use the five GRADE considerations (study limitations, consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness, and publication bias) to assess the certainty of a body of evidence as it relates to the studies that contribute data to the meta-analyses for the prespecified outcomes. We will use methods and recommendations described in Chapter 12 of the *Handbook* and GRADEpro GDT software for the two comparisons anticipated (HIIT versus no training, and HIIT versus moderate-intensity continuous training (Higgins 2019; GRADEpro GDT)). We will justify all decisions to downgrade the certainty of evidence using footnotes, and we will make comments to aid reader's understanding of the review where necessary.

Two review authors (JS and CR) will independently judge the certainty of the evidence, with disagreements resolved by discussion or by involving a third review author (PG). They will justify, document, and incorporate the judgements into the result reports for each outcome.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We plan to carry out these subgroup analyses.

- 1. extent of supervision provided during the training (supervised versus unsupervised)
- 2. duration of the work interval (stratify HIIT- versus SIT-based protocols)



- 3. programme duration, to identify short-term versus long-term changes (less than 12 weeks; more than 12 weeks)
- protocol adherence to identify the effect of adhereing to the prescibed trial interventions (the 'per-protocol effect') (Hernan 2017)
- 5. sex (males versus females)

We will use the formal test for subgroup differences in Review Manager 5, and base our interpretation on this.

Sensitivity analysis

Our primary analysis will include all studies. We will carry out a sensitivity analysis in which we only include studies with overall low risk of bias or some concerns, excluding studies at high risk of bias.

Reaching conclusions

We will base our conclusions only on findings from the quantitative or narrative synthesis of included studies for this review. We will avoid making recommendations for practice; our implications for research will suggest priorities for future research and outline the remaining uncertainties in the area.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Cochrane Heart for editorial assistance and support with the protocol. We also thank external peer reviewers (Brian J Andonian, MD and Andrew Keech) for their input to improve the protocol.



REFERENCES

Additional references

Artero 2012

Artero EG, España-Romero V, Sui X, Church TS, Lavie CJ, et al. Ideal cardiovascular health and mortality: Aerobics Center Longitudinal Study. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 2012; **87**(10):944-52.

Arzu 2006

Arzu D, Tuzun EH, Eker L. Percieved barriers to physical activity in university students. *Journal of Sports Science and Medicine* 2006; **5**(4):615-20.

Bacon 2013

Bacon AP, Carter RE, Ogle EA, Joyner MJ. VO2 max trainability and high intensity interval training in humans: a meta-analysis. *PloS One* 2013; **8**(9):e73182.

Batacan 2017

, Duncan MJ, Dalbo VJ, Tucker PS, Fenning AS. Effects of high-intensity interval training on cardiometabolic health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of intervention studies. *British Journal Sports Medicine* 2017; **51**(6):494-503.

Ben-Shlomo 2014

Ben-Shlomo Y, Spears M, Boustred C, May M, Anderson SG,
Benjamin EJ, et al. Aortic pulse wave velocity improves
cardiovascular event prediction: an individual participant
meta-analysis of prospective observational data from 17,635
subjects. *Journal of the American College of Cardiololgy* 2014;
63(7):636-46.

Blair 1995

Blair SN, , Barlow CE, , Gibbons LW, Macera CA. Changes in physical fitness and all-cause mortality. A prospective study of healthy and unhealthy men. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1995; **273**(14):1093-8.

Campbell 2019

Campbell WW, Kraus WE, Powell KE, Haskell WL, Janz KF, Jakicic JM, et al. High-intensity interval training for cardiometabolic disease prevention. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2019; **51**(6):1220-6.

Clausen 2018

Clausen JS, Marott JL, Holtermann A, Gyntelberg F, Jensen MT. Midlife cardiorespiratory fitness and the long-term risk of mortality: 46 years of follow-up. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2018; **72**(9):987-95.

Cocks 2013

Cocks M, Shaw CS, Shepherd SO, Fisher JP, Ranasinghe AM, Barker TA, et al. Sprint interval and endurance training are equally effective in increasing muscle microvascular density and eNOS content in sedentary males. *Journal of Physiology* 2013; **591**(3):641-56.

Cocks 2016

Cocks M, Shaw CS, Shepherd SO, Fisher JP, Ranasinghe A, Barker TA, et al. Sprint interval and moderate-intensity continuous training have equal benefits on aerobic capacity, insulin sensitivity, muscle capillarisation and endothelial eNOS/NAD(P)Hoxidase protein ratio in obese men. *Journal of Physiology* 2016; **594**(8):2307-21.

Colberg 2016

Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Yardley JE, Riddell MC, Dunstan DW, Dempsey PC, et al. Physical activity/exercise and diabetes: a position statement of the American Diabetes Association. *Diabetes Care* 2016; **39**(11):2065-79.

Cornelissen 2013

Cornelissen VA, Smart NA. Exercise training for blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2013; **2**(1):e004473.

Ding 2016

Ding D, Lawson KD, Kolbe-Alexander TL, Finkelstein EA, Katzmarzyk PT, van Mechelen W, et al. The economic burden of physical inactivity: a global analysis of major noncommunicable diseases. *Lancet* 2016; **388**(10051):1311-24.

Ekelund 2019

Ekelund U, Tarp J, Steene-Johannessen J, Hansen BH, Jefferis B, Fagerland MW, et al. Dose-response associations between accelerometry measured physical activity and sedentary time and all cause mortality: systematic review and harmonised meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2019; **366**:14570.

Flanagan 1978

Flanagan JC. A research approach to improving quality of life. *American Psychologist* 1978; **33**(2):138-47.

Flanagan 1982

Flanagan JC. Measurement of quality of life: current state of the art. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 1982; **63**(2):56-9.

GBD 2017 Causes of Death Collaborators

GBD 2017 Causes of Death Collaborators. Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet* 2018; **392**(10159):1736-88.

GBD 2017 Risk Factor Collaborators

GBD Risk Factor Collaborators. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet* 2018; **392**:1923-94.



Gibala 2010

Gibala MJ, Little JP. Just HIT it! A time efficient exercise strategy to improve muscle insulin sensitivity. *Journal of Physiology* 2010; **588**:3341-2.

Gibala 2012

Gibala MJ, Little JP, Macdonald MJ, Hawley JA. Physiological adaptations to low-volume, high-intensity interval training in health and disease. *Journal of Physiology* 2012; **590**(5):1077-84.

GRADEpro GDT [Computer program]

McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime) GRADEpro GDT. Hamilton (ON): McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime), accessed prior to 30 April 2020.Available at gradepro.org.

Green 2011

Green DJ, Jones H, Thijssen D, Cable NT, Atkinson G. Flowmediated dilation and cardiovascular event prediction: does nitric oxide matter? *Hypertension* 2011; **57**:363-9.

Grundy 2005

Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, Franklin BA, et al. Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome. An American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute scientific statement. *Circulation* 2005; **112**:2735-52.

Grundy 2008

Grundy SM. Metabolic syndrome pandemic. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology* 2008; **28**:629-36.

Guthold 2018

Guthold R, Stevens GA, Riley LM, Bull FC. Worldwide trends in insufficient physical activity from 2001 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 358 population-based surveys with 1.9 million participants. *Lancet* 2018; **6**(10):PE1077-86.

He 2009

He Y, Lam TH, Jiang B, Wang J, Sai X, Fan L, et al. Combined effects of tobacco smoke exposure and metabolic syndrome on cardiovascular risk in older residents of China. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2009; **53**(4):363-71.

Hernan 2017

Hernan MA, Robins JM. Per-protocol analyses of pragmatic trials. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2017; **377**(14):1391-8.

Higgins 2019

Higgins JP, Li T, Deeks JJ. Chapter 6: Choosing effect measures and computing estimates of effect. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.0 (updated July 2019). Cochrane, 2019. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Inaba 2010

Inaba Y, Chen JA, Bergmann SR. Prediction of future cardiovascular outcomes by flow-mediated vasodilatation of brachial artery: a meta-analysis. *International Journal of Cardiovascular Imaging* 2010; **26**:631-40.

Irace 2005

Irace C, Cortese C, Fiaschi E, Carallo C, Sesti G, Farinaro E, et al. Components of the metabolic syndrome and carotid atherosclerosis. Role of elevated blood pressure. *Hypertension* 2005; **45**:597-601.

Jelleyman 2015

Jelleyman C, Yates T, O'Donovan G, Gray LJ, King JA, Khunti K, et al. The effects of high-intensity interval training on glucose regulation and insulin resistance: a meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews* 2015; **16**(11):942-61.

Keating 2017

Keating SE, Johnson NA, Mielke GI, Coombes JS. A systematic review and meta-analysis of interval training versus moderateintensity continuous training on body adiposity. *Obesity Reviews* 2017; **18**(8):943-64.

Kodama 2009

Kodama S, Saito K, Tanaka S, Maki M, Yachi Y, Asumi M, et al. Cardiorespiratory fitness as a quantitative predictor of allcause mortality and cardiovascular events in healthy men and women: a meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2009; **301**(19):2024-35.

Lee 2011

Lee DC, Sui X, Artero EG, Lee IM, Church TS, McAuley PA, et al. Long-term effects of changes in cardiorespiratory fitness and body mass index on all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality in men: the Aerobics Center Longitudinal Study. *Circulation* 2011; **124**:2483-90.

Liberati 2009

Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gotzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. *PLoS Medicine* 2009; **6**(7):e1000100.

Manson 1999

Manson JE, Hu FB, Rich-Edwards JW, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, et al. A prospective study of walking as compared with vigorous exercise in the prevention of coronary heart disease in women. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1999; **341**:650-8.

Milanovic 2015

Milanovic Z, Sporis G, Weston M. Effectiveness of high-intensity interval training (HIT) and continuous endurance training for VO2 max improvements: a systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. *Sports Medicine* 2015; **45**:1469-81.

Misra 2008

Misra A, Khurana L. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome in developing countries. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 2008; **93**(11):s9-30.

Myers 2004

Myers J, Kaykha A, George S, Abella J, Zaheer N, Lear S, et al. Fitness versus physical activity patterns in predicting mortality in men. *American Journal of Medicine* 2004; **117**(12):912-8.



Paffenbarger 1986

, Hyde RT, Wing AL, Hsieh CC. Physical activity, all-cause mortality, and longevity of college alumni. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1986; **314**:605-13.

Rakobowchuk 2008

Rakobowchuk M, Tanguay S, Burgomaster KA, Howarth KR, Gibala MJ, MacDonald MJ. Sprint interval and traditional endurance training induce similar improvements in peripheral arterial stiffness and flow-mediated dilation in healthy humans. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 2008; **295**:236-42.

Ramos 2015

Ramos JS, Dalleck LC, Tjonna AE, Beetham KS, Coombes JS. The impact of high-intensity interval training versus moderateintensity continuous training on vascular function: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine* 2015; **45**:679-92.

Ras 2013

Ras RT, Streppel MT, Draijer R, Zock PL. Flow-mediated dilation and cardiovascular risk prediction: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2013; **168**(1):344-51.

Review Manager 2014 [Computer program]

Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Sallis 2016

Sallis JF, Bull F, Guthold R, Heath GW, Inoue S, Kelly P, et al. Progress in physical activity over the Olympic quadrennium. *Lancet* 2016; **388**(10051):1325-36.

Sato 2007

Sato Y, Nagasaki M, Kubota M, Uno T, Nakai N. Clinical aspects of physical exercise for diabetes/metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2007; **77**(3):S87-91.

Shepherd 2015

Shepherd SO, Wilson OJ, Taylor AS, Thogersen-Ntoumani C, Adlan AM, Wagenmakers AJ, et al. Low-volume high-intensity interval training in a gym setting improves cardio-metabolic and psychological health. *PloS One* 2015; **10**(9):e0139056.

Shepherd 2017

Shepherd SO, Cocks M, Meikle PJ, Mellett NA, Ranasinghe AM, Barker TA, et al. Lipid droplet remodelling and reduced muscle ceramides following sprint interval and moderate-intensity continuous exercise training in obese males. *International Journal of Obesity (London)* 2017; **41**(12):1745-54.

Skelly 2014

Skelly LE, Andrews PC, Gillen JB, Martin BJ, Percival ME, Gibala MJ. High-intensity interval exercise induces 24h energy expenditure similar to traditional endurance exercise despite reduced time commitment. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition and Metabolism* 2014; **39**(7):845-8.

Sultana 2019

Sultana RN, Sabag A, Keating SE, Johnson NA. The effect of low volume high intensity interval training on body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Sports Medicine* 2019; **49**:1687-721.

Thijssen 2011

Thijssen DH, Black MA, Pyke KE, Padilla J, Atkinson G, Harris RA, et al. Assessment of flow-mediated dilation in humans: a methodological and physiological guideline. *American Journal of Physiology Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 2011; **300**:H2-12.

Thompson 2003

Thompson PD, Buchner D, Pina IL, Balady GJ, Williams MA, Marcus BH, et al. Exercise and physical activity in the prevention and treatment of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: a statement from the Council on Clinical Cardiology (subcommittee on exercise, rehabilitation, and prevention) and the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism (subcommittee on physical activity). *Circulation* 2003; **107**:3109-16.

Thompson 2019

Thompson WR. Worldwide survey of fitness trends for 2020. *American College of Sports Medicine Health and Fitness Journal* 2019; **23**(6):10-8.

Viana 2019

Viana RB, Naves JPA, Coswig VS, Barbosa de Lira CA, Steele J, Fisher JP, et al. Is interval training the magic bullet for fat loss? A systematic review and meta-analysis comparing moderate-intensity continuous training with high-intensity interval training (HIIT). *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 2019; **53**(10):655-64.

Vollaard 2017

Vollaard NBJ, Metcalfe RS, Williams S. Effect of number of sprints in an SIT session on change in VO2 max. A meta analysis. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2017; **49**(6):1147-56.

Wen 2019

Wen D, Utesch T, Wu J, Robertson S, Liu J, Hu G, et al. Effects of different protocols of high intensity interval training for VO2 max improvements in adults: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* 2019; **22**(8):941-7.

Weston 2014

Weston M, Taylor KL, Batterham AM, Hopkins WG. Effects of lowvolume high-intensity interval training (HIT) on fitness in adults: a meta-analysis of controlled and non-controlled trials. *Sports Medicine* 2014; **44**:1005-17.

Wewege 2017

Wewege M, van den Berg R, Ward RE, Keech A. The effects of high-intensity interval training vs. moderate-intensity continuous training on body composition in overweight and obese adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity Reviews* 2017; **18**(6):635-46.



WHO 2010

World Health Organisation. Global recommendations on physical activity for health. www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/ factsheet_recommendations/en/ 2010. [ISBN: 9789241599979]

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Preliminary MEDLINE Ovid search strategy

1 High-Intensity Interval Training/ (862)

2 HIIT.tw. (921)

3 (high intensity adj3 (exercise* or training*)).tw. (6766)

4 ((intermittent or interval*) adj3 (exercise* or training*)).tw. (6359)

5 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 (10871)

6 randomized controlled trial.pt. (499754)

7 controlled clinical trial.pt. (93551)

8 randomized.ab. (468539)

9 placebo.ab. (204834)

10 clinical trials as topic.sh. (190007)

11 randomly.ab. (326338)

12 trial.ti. (212295)

13 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12 (1266315)

14 exp animals/ not humans.sh. (4669549)

15 13 not 14 (1164784)

16 5 and 15 (3524)

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 5, 2020

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

JS contributed to, read, and approved the final protocol CR contributed to, read, and approved the final protocol LS contributed to, read, and approved the final protocol SS contributed to, read, and approved the final protocol MC contributed to, read, and approved the final protocol PG contributed to, read, and approved the final protocol

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

JS has no conflicts of interest to declare CR has no conflicts of interest to declare LS has no conflicts of interest to declare SS has no conflicts of interest to declare MC has no conflicts of interest to declare

PG has no conflicts of interest to declare

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• In kind support; Liverpool John Moores University, UK

JS, EC and SS thank their host institution for the in kind support in the provision of office space, library services and technical support.In kind support; Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine, UK

MC and PG thank their host institution for the in kind support in the provision of office space, library services and technical support. In kind support - University of Freiburg, Germany

LS thanks his host institution for the in kind support in the provision of office space, library services and technical support. In kind support - University of Colombo, Sri Lanka

CR thanks his host institution for the in kind support in the provision of office space, library services and technical support.

External sources

• National Institute for Health Research, UK

This project was supported by the National Institute for Health Research, via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Heart Group. The views and opinions expressed therein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Systematic Reviews Programme, NIHR, NHS or the Department of Health and Social Care

• UK Aid, UK

CR, MC and PG are funded by UK Aid from the UK government for the benefit of low- and middle-income countries (project number 300342-104). The views expressed do not necessarily reflect the UK government's official policies